
A
G

EN
D

A
 

O
U

TSTA
N

D
IN

G
 

A
C

TIO
N

S
STR

A
TEG

IC
 

M
A

T
TER

S
C

A
SE R

EP
O

R
TS 

FR
O

M
 P

SC

 

 

 
 

 

MINUTES Meeting date: Monday 28 July 2025 

 
IN ATTENDANCE ONLINE  
Members: 

• Suzanne Vestri (Convener) 

• Malcolm Bell 

• Helen Donaldson 

• Morag Ferguson 

• Lezley Stewart 

Executive Team: 

• Lorna Johnston (Executive Director)  

• Richard Wilson (Case Manager)  

ITEM CONTENT ACTION 

STANDING ITEMS 

1.  APOLOGIES 
No apologies were received. 
 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
No declarations of interest were made. 
 

 
  

2.  MATTERS ARISING 
Members noted all matters arising from the last meeting, on 26 May 2025, were complete. 
 
Members noted that a service user had referred a data breach to the Information Commissioner’s 
Office. The Information Commissioner’s office had advised the Standards Commission, by email, 
that it considered the breach presented a low-level risk and was satisfied with steps taken to 
remedy the situation. Members noted it was unclear, from the email whether the Information 
Commissioner considered the Standards Commission should have reported the matter, despite 
also having assessed it as low risk. 
 
Members noted the Information Commissioner’s Office failed to respond to a request for clarity 
on this, despite a reminder, and, as such, the Standards Commission made a service delivery 
complaint. The Executive Director telephoned the Information Commissioner’s Office on 23 June 
2025 when no response to the service delivery complaint was issued within the published 
timescales. The Executive Director was advised the matter would be escalated to a manager. As 
no call or correspondence was received, a further service delivery complaint was made on 11 July 
2025. Members noted that, to date, there had still been no response. Members asked the 
Executive Team to keep them updated in respect of any progress. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Team 

CONSENT ITEMS 

3.  DRAFT MINUTE OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
Members reviewed and approved the minute of the meeting on 26 May 2025.  
 

 
 

STRATEGIC MATTERS 

4.  PROMOTING THE ETHICAL STANDARDS FRAMEWORK AND UPDATE ON OUTREACH WORK 
Members noted that since their last meeting: 

• The Convener attended a Roundtable on Civility in Public Life event on 28 May 2025 convened 
by COSLA, aimed at addressing the pressing issue of targeted abuse and intimidation towards 
elected members. The Executive Director then attended a follow-up meeting on 24 June 
2025. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2 
 

• The Executive Director presented on the Model Code of Conduct at the Scottish 
Government’s Induction Workshop for new Ministerial Appointees on 4 June 2025. 

• The Executive Team has been asked to present on the Model Code to Members of Ayrshire 
College on 2 September 2025, Glasgow Health and Social Care Integration Joint Board on 3 
September 2025, and Crown Estates Scotland on 21 October 2025. 

 
Members further noted that the Standards Commission had arranged to present at joint 
webinars with the Improvement Service on 15 and 29 January 2026, to cover distinguishing 
between strategic and operational matters, and gifts and hospitality, respectively. 
 
Open University E-Learning Course 
Members noted that the Improvement Service was partnering with the Open University to 
develop an e-Learning course for councillors. Members noted the intention was that some 
content would also be available to prospective local authority candidates. Members noted that 
the Standards Commission had agreed to work with the Open University Design Team to develop 
content for a module on the Councillors’ Code of Conduct. Members noted that the Executive 
Team had sent some draft content for the course to the Improvement Service on 27 June 2025, 
for onward transmission to the Open University’s Design Team.  
 
Proposed Diary Dates for 2026 
Members agreed diary dates for meeting and events to be held in 2026. Members asked the 
Executive Team to circulate the updated diary dates and workplan. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Team 

5.  SPCB SUPPORTED BODIES LANDSCAPE REVIEW COMMITTEE  
Members noted that the Parliament’s SPCB Supported Bodies Landscape Review Committee had 
been established to: 
• define how SPCB supported bodies should be held to account and scrutinised; 
• set stronger criteria for the creation of new supported bodies; and 
• identify how services and offices can be shared between these bodies. 
 
Members noted the Committee’s findings and recommendations had been outlined in a report 
published on 19 June 2025. 
 
Members formally noted the Committee’s findings and recommendations and agreed to 
continue to pursue opportunities to share services with other officeholders and public sector 
bodies. 
 

 
 
 

BUSINESS MATTERS 

6.  ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS FOR 2024/25 
Members reviewed the draft Annual Accounts for 2024/25, the contents of the proposed 
external audit report, and the terms of the draft ISA 580 management response letter.  
Members were pleased to note that the external auditors (Audit Scotland) had reported that: 

• the financial statements gave a true and fair view and were properly prepared in accordance 
with the financial reporting framework; 

• expenditure and income were regular and in accordance with applicable enactments and 
guidance; and 

• the audited part of the remuneration and staff report, performance report and governance 
statement were all consistent with the financial statements and properly prepared in 
accordance with the relevant legislation and directions made by Scottish Ministers. 

 
Members approved the Annual Accounts and confirmed that the Executive Director was to 
proceed to sign both the Accounts and ISA 580 letter, before submitting them to Audit Scotland 
for their consideration and final approval. Members thanked staff for their work in producing the 
required information for the auditors promptly. 

 
Executive 
Director 



3 
 

7.  REPORT ON THE AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 22 JULY 2025 
Members noted the verbal report provided by Ms Donaldson, Chair of the Audit & Risk 
Committee, of the meeting held on 22 July 2025. Members reviewed the terms of the Annual 
Audit Report from Audit Scotland and the Annual Assurance Statement from the Internal Auditor. 
Members were pleased to note that satisfactory assurances had been offered from both in 
respect of the Standards Commission’s systems of internal control.   
 
Members further noted, and advised that they supported, the recommendations made by the 
Committee in respect of updates to the current risk scores on the Risk Register for 2025/26. 
Members asked the Executive Team to update the Risk Register accordingly. 
 
Members further noted the Internal Auditor had reviewed the Standards Commission’s ‘Section 
16 policy’ and associated processes and related key performance indicators. Section 16 of the 
Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000 outlines the options available to the 
Standards Commission on receipt of a referral report from the Ethical Standards Commissioner 
(ESC) regarding a complaint about a councillor or member of a devolved public body. The ‘Section 
16 policy’ relates how the Standards Commission makes decisions on these referrals and the 
factors it will consider in doing so. 
 
Members noted that the Internal Auditor reported that, based on the audit work performed, he 
was able to offer a substantial level of assurance over the systems, controls and processes in 
place with regards to the Section 16 decision-making process. The Internal Auditor advised that 
no issues had been identified from the testing performed, which required any audit 
recommendations to be raised. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Team 

8.  REPORT ON THE EXPENDITURE AGAINST BUDGET FOR QUARTER ONE OF 2025/26  
Members noted there was a small overspend in terms of expenditure against the agreed budget 
for the first quarter of the year. Members noted that unless the number of case referrals and 
Hearings scheduled for the remainder of the year substantially exceed the numbers projected, it 
was anticipated this small overspend would unwind over the next few months. 
 

 
 
 

9.  REVIEW OF BUSINESS PLAN FOR QUARTER ONE OF 2025/26 
Members reviewed the progress made in the first half of the year to date against the actions 
outlined in the Business Plan for 2025/26. Members were pleased to note the majority of tasks 
identified for quarter one had been completed or progressed, and thanked staff for their work 
during what had been a busy period. 
 

 
 

10.  REVIEW OF HEARINGS ADJOURNMENT POLICY   
Members reviewed the Standards Commission’s Policy on Hearing Adjournment Requests and 
agreed various wording changes, intended to make the document clearer and more accessible. 
Members noted the Executive Team would publish the revised version on the website and 
would send a copy to the ESC. 
 

 
 
Executive 
Team 

11.  BUSINESS CONTINUITY PLAN    
Members reviewed and agreed some minor changes to the Business Continuity Plan. Members 
asked the Executive Team to send copies of the revised version to the SPCB and ESC. 
  

 
Executive 
Team 

CASES UPDATE 

12.  REPORTS FROM THE ESC & SECTION 14 LETTERS 
(a) LA/EL/4051: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about five East Lothian Councillors. 
 
(b) LA/G/4160: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a Glasgow City Councillor. 

 

 



4 
 

(c) LA/EL/4126: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about an East Lothian Councillor. 

 

(d) LA/EL/4224: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about an East Lothian Councillor. 

 

(e) LA/Fa/4202: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a Falkirk Councillor. 
 

(f) LA/G/4182: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to a Glasgow City 
Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 

 

(g) LA/NL/4142: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a North Lanarkshire Councillor. 

 

(h) LA/E/4189: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a City of Edinburgh Councillor. 

 

(i) LA/AB/4147: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to an Argyll and 
Bute Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 

 

(j) LA/SA/4269: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a South Ayrshire Councillor. 

 

(k) LA/H/4028: Members noted that decision was awaited on a referral made by the ESC 
following further investigation, on 24 July 2025. 

 

(l) NPA/LLT/4184: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to a member of 
Loch Lomond and the Trossachs National Park under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public 
Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 

 

(m) LA/I/4235: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to an Inverclyde 
Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 
 

13.  CASES 
(a) LA/Fa/3910: Members noted that a Hearing was held on 5 June 2025. The Respondent was 
found to have breached the Councillors’ Code and was suspended for three months.  
 
(b) LA/As/4024: Members noted that a Hearing was held on 1 July 2025. The Respondent was 
found to have breached the Councillors’ Code and was suspended for two months.  

 

(c) LA/An/4168: Members noted that a Hearing was held online on 17 July 2025. The Respondent 
was found on the face of it, to have breached the Councillors’ Code. Having considered the 
Respondent’s right to freedom of expression, however, the Panel determined a formal finding 
of a breach of the Code could not be made. 

 

(d) LA/NA/4086: Members noted that a Hearing was scheduled to take place on 30 July 2025 in 
the Council Headquarters, Irvine. 

 

(e) LA/AC/3994: Members noted that a rescheduled Hearing was due to take place on 5 August 
2025 in the Town House, Aberdeen. 

 

(f) LA/AB/4081: Members noted that a Hearing was scheduled to take place on 26 August 2025 
in the Council Chambers, Lochgilphead. 
 

 



5 
 

14.  INVESTIGATIONS EXCEEDING 3 MONTHS – INTERIM REPORTS 
(a) NPA/LLT/4184: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about a Loch Lomond and Trossachs National Park Authority 
board member had taken more than six months to investigate. 

 
(b) NPA/LLT/4230: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about a Loch Lomond and Trossachs National Park Authority 
board member had taken more than three months to investigate. 

 

(c) LA/SA/4134, 4220 and 4222: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the 
ESC advising that an investigation into a complaint about three South Ayrshire Councillors had 
taken more than three months to investigate. 

 

(d) LA/G/4216: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Glasgow City Councillor had taken more than five months 
to investigate. 
 
(e) LA/C/4271: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Clackmannanshire Councillor had taken more than three 
months to investigate. 

 

(f) LA/G/4223: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Glasgow City Councillor had taken more than six months 
to investigate. 
 

 
 
 
 

15.  FEEDBACK INCLUDING ANY HEARINGS SURVEY RESPONSES 
(a) Members noted the Hearings Survey received on 13 June 2025. 
 
(b) Members noted the Hearings Survey received on 7 July 2025. 

 
(c) Members noted the feedback from the Complainer on the ‘no action’ decision on case 

LA/Fa/4202. 
 

 
 

16.  NOTABLE CASES FROM OTHER JURISDICTIONS 
(a) Members noted the press release issued by the Northern Ireland Local Government 

Commissioner for Standards in respect of a decision they made at a Hearing on 13 June 2025. 
 

 

ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

17.  STRATEGIC ENGAGEMENT DOCUMENTS 
Members noted that the SPCB and Executive Team had reviewed, and made minor amendments 
to the strategic engagement documents that outlined their relationship, being the: 

• Memorandum of Understanding.  

• Framework Document; 

• Finance Manual; and 

• Contingency Protocol 
 
Members noted that copies of the amended versions of the documents would be circulated after 
the meeting. 
 
ANY EMERGING RISKS  
None identified. 
 
AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT SCS MEETING 
Members agreed to advise the Executive Director of any items to be included in the agenda for 
discuss at the next meeting. 

 
 
 
Executive 
Team 
 
 



6 
 

 

18.  2025/26 DIARY DATES AND WORKPLAN 
Members noted the diary dates and ongoing workplan.  
 
DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
Members noted that the next meeting of the Standards Commission was scheduled to take place 
online and in public on Tuesday, 30 September 2025.  
 

 
 
 


